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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 

 

To the Shareholders of GreenFirst Forest Products Inc. 

Opinion 

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of GreenFirst Forest Products Inc. (the 
Entity), which comprise: 

 the consolidated statement of financial position as at December 31, 2021  

 the consolidated statement of loss and comprehensive loss for the year then ended 

 the consolidated statement of changes in shareholders’ equity for the year then ended 

 the consolidated statement of cash flow for the year then ended 

 and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant 
accounting policies 

(Hereinafter referred to as the “financial statements”). 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the 
consolidated financial position of the Entity as at December 31, 2021, and its consolidated 
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the years then ended in accordance 
with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued by the International Accounting 
Standards Board ("IASB"). 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the “Auditors’ Responsibilities 
for the Audit of the Financial Statements” section of our auditors’ report. 

We are independent of the Entity in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to 
our audit of the financial statements in Canada and we have fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our opinion.  

Key Audit Matters 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance 
in our audit of the financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2021. These matters 
were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming 
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. 
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We have determined the matters described below to be the key audit matters to be 
communicated in our auditors’ report. 

Evaluation of the acquisition date fair values of plant and equipment 

Description of the matter 

We draw attention to Notes 2, 3, 4 and 9 to the financial statements. On August 28, 2021, the Entity 
acquired a business consisting of six sawmills and one paper mill (the "Acquisition"), for aggregate 
consideration of $294,110 thousand.  In determining the estimated fair values of the acquired 
assets, the Entity recorded plant and equipment at an estimated fair value of $113,132 thousand. 
Plant and equipment is valued at the acquisition date using the cost approach, where the value of 
each asset is based on an estimate of the cost to purchase or replace the asset, adjusted for the 
estimated useful lives and physical condition, and functional and economic obsolescence at the 
date of acquisition. 

Why the matter is a key audit matter 

We identified the evaluation of the acquisition date fair values of plant and equipment as a key audit 
matter. This matter represented a significant risk of material misstatement given the magnitude of 
plant and equipment and high degree of estimation uncertainty in determining the fair value of the 
plant and equipment, specifically the current cost to purchase or replace the asset, the estimated 
useful lives, and functional and economic obsolescence at the date of acquisition.  

How the matter was addressed in the audit 

The following are the primary procedures we performed to address this key audit matter:  

We read the valuation report prepared by the Entity’s external valuation experts with respect to the 
plant and equipment and assessed the valuation expert’s qualifications and objectivity. 

We involved valuation professionals with specialized skills and knowledge, who assisted in:  

 Evaluating the appropriateness of the valuation method used by the Entity to determine the fair 
value of plant and equipment by comparing the valuation method used to commonly accepted 
valuation methods for similar plant and equipment. 

 Assessing the appropriateness of the cost to purchase or replace the asset estimate by 
comparing the replacement cost to recent appraisals that were completed involving the 
valuation of similar plant and equipment. 

 Comparing the estimated useful lives used in the depreciation assumptions and functional and 
economic obsolescence in the application of the cost approach to external market and industry 
information. 

Assessment of inventory fair value and net realizable value 

Description of the matter 

We draw attention to Notes 2, 3, 4, and 8 to the financial statements. The Entity acquired inventory 
with an estimated fair value of $98,935 thousand in the Acquisition. At December 31, 2021, the 
inventory carrying amount is $107,204 thousand. The Entity recorded the inventory at the date of 
the business combination at fair value determined based on the estimated selling price at the date 
of acquisition, less estimated costs to complete and sell, including duties and transportation, and a 
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reasonable profit allowance for the completion and selling effort.  At December 31, 2021, inventory 
is valued at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Net realizable value is the estimated selling 
prices less costs of completion, applicable duties, transportation costs and disposal costs. 

Why the matter is a key audit matter 

We identified the assessment of the inventory fair value and net realizable value as a key audit 
matter. This matter represented a significant risk of material misstatement given the magnitude of 
inventory. Significant auditor judgment was required to evaluate the estimated selling prices, costs 
to complete and sell the inventory, and applicable duties used to estimate acquisition date fair value 
and year end net realizable value. 

How the matter was addressed in the audit 

The following are the primary procedures we performed to address this key audit matter: 

We compared the estimated selling prices used in the determination of acquisition date fair value 
and year end net realizable value to actual sales prices for sales made subsequent to the 
acquisition date and subsequent to year end, respectively. 

We evaluated the estimates of costs to complete and sell the inventory by comparing the estimates 
to the relevant historical actual conversion and selling costs. 

We compared the duty rate for U.S. sales to the duty rates being paid on sales subsequent to the 
measurement dates, and the estimated volumes of U.S. sales to historical actual sales. 

Other Matter – Comparative Information 

The financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2020, were audited by another auditor 
who expressed an unmodified opinion on those financial statements on April 28, 2021. 

Other Information 

Management is responsible for the other information. Other information comprises the information 
included in Management’s Discussion and Analysis filed with the relevant Canadian Securities 
Commissions. 
 
Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not and 
will not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 
 
In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 
information identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially 
inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit and remain alert 
for indications that the other information appears to be materially misstated. 
 
We obtained the information included in Management’s Discussion and Analysis filed with the 
relevant Canadian Securities Commissions as at the date of this auditors’ report. If, based on the 
work we have performed on this other information, we conclude that there is a material 
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact in the auditors’ report. 
 
We have nothing to report in this regard. 
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Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the 
Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), and for such internal control 
as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Entity’s ability 
to continue as a going concern, disclosing as applicable, matters related to going concern and 
using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the 
Entity or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Entity’s financial reporting 
process. 

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a 
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an 
auditors’ report that includes our opinion. 

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit 
conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards will always detect 
a material misstatement when it exists. 

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken 
on the basis of the financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we 
exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. 

We also: 

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those 
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our opinion. 

The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for 
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Entity's internal control. 

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management. 
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 Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of 
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty 
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Entity's ability to 
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are 
required to draw attention in our auditors’ report to the related disclosures in the financial 
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our 
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors’ 
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Entity to cease to continue as 
a going concern. 

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, 
including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying 
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

 Communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the 
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any 
significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit. 

 Provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with 
relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and communicate with them all 
relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our 
independence, and where applicable, related safeguards. 

 Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the 
entities or business activities within the group Entity to express an opinion on the financial 
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the 
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion. 

 Determine, from the matters communicated with those charged with governance, those 
matters that were of most significance in the audit of the financial statements of the 
current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our 
auditors’ report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or 
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be 
communicated in our auditors’ report because the adverse consequences of doing so 
would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such 
communication. 

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this auditors’ report is Francis L. Klemenchuk. 

 
 
 
 
 
Chartered Professional Accountants, Licensed Public Accountants 
March 23, 2022 
Toronto, Canada 
 



 

GREENFIRST FOREST PRODUCTS INC.
(formerly Itasca Capital Ltd.)
Consolidated Statements of Financial Position
(In thousands of Canadian Dollars)

As at December 31 Note(s) 2021 2020
Assets
Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents  $ 36,173                     $ 5,282                      
Trade and other receivables 7          38,067                    -                         
Inventory 8          107,204                  -                         
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 3,353                      515                         

184,797                  5,797                      
Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 9          182,317                  11,517                    
Biological assets 9          2,021                      -                         
Timber licences 10        11,716                    -                         
Right of use assets 12        3,382                      -                         
Investment 20        500                         -                         
Deferred financing charges 14        1,431                      -                         
Pension plans in asset positions 13        29,773                    -                         

Total assets $ 415,937                  $ 17,314                    
Liabilities
Current liabilities

Accounts payable  $ 27,481                     $ 1,437                      
Other current liabilities 11, 12 20,220                    -                         
Long-term debt, current 14        6,339                      -                         

54,040                    1,437                      
Non-current liabilities

Long-term debt 14        108,882                  -                         
Post-retirement obligations 13        10,043                    -                         
Lease liabilities, long-term 12        2,132                      -                         
Other long-term liabilities 11        7,363                      -                         
Convertible debentures 15        -                         3,702                      
Deferred tax liability 16        4,318                      -                         

Total liabilities    186,778                  5,139                      
Shareholders’ equity

Share capital 17        254,728                  38,362                    
Equity reserves 9,577                      498                         
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) 1,033                      (125)                       
Accumulated deficit (36,179)                   (26,560)                   

Total shareholders’ equity 229,159                  12,175                    
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity $ 415,937                  $ 17,314                    

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Approved and authorized by the Board of Directors on March 23, 2022:
"Rick Doman"
CEO & Director

"William G. Harvey"
Director



  

GREENFIRST FOREST PRODUCTS INC.
(formerly Itasca Capital Ltd.)
Consolidated Statements of Loss and Comprehensive Loss
(In thousands of Canadian Dollars, except per share amounts)

Year ended December 31 Note(s) 2021 2020

Net sales 22 $ 190,479                   $ -                          
Cost of sales (162,233)                 -                          
Duties (14,907)                   -                          
Selling, general and administrative expenses 5 (8,432)                     (2,662)                     
Other operating income 195                         5                             
Operating income (expense) 5,102                      (2,657)                     
Acquisition and transaction related costs 4 (9,877)                     -                          
Finance costs, net 6 (6,176)                     (31)                          
Other (expense) income (699)                        438                         
Net loss, before income taxes (11,650)                   (2,250)                     
Deferred tax recovery 16 2,031                      -                          
Net loss (9,619)                     (2,250)                     

Other comprehensive earnings (loss)
Items that will not be reclassified to earnings in future periods:

Defined benefit pension plans adjustments, net of tax expense of $418 13,16 1,158                      -                          

Items that may subsequently be reclassified to earnings:

Foreign currency translation of foreign operations -                          110                         
Comprehensive loss for the period $ (8,461)                     $ (2,140)                     

Basic and diluted loss per share 17 $ (0.12)                       $ (0.10)                       

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.



 

GREENFIRST FOREST PRODUCTS INC.
(formerly Itasca Capital Ltd.)
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Shareholders' Equity 
(In thousands of Canadian Dollars)

Share Capital
Equity 

Reserves

Accumulated 
Other 

Comprehensive 
Earnings (Loss)

Accumulated 
Deficit Total

Balance, January 1, 2020 $ 37,589             $ 65                   $ (238)                 $ (24,307)           $ 13,109             

Net loss -                  -                  -                   (2,250)             (2,250)             

Other comprehensive earnings (loss), net of tax -                  -                  113                  (3)                    110                 

Shares and warrants issued 911                 89                   -                   -                  1,000              

Options granted -                  42                   -                   -                  42                   

Debenture conversion feature -                  302                 -                   -                  302                 

Share issue costs (138)                -                  -                   -                  (138)                

Balance, December 31, 2020 38,362             498                 (125)                 (26,560)           12,175             

Net loss -                  -                  -                   (9,619)             (9,619)             
Other comprehensive earnings (loss), net of tax -                  -                  1,158               -                  1,158              
Shares issued on exercise of options 1,449              -                  -                   -                  1,449              
Shares issued on conversion of debentures 4,075              (302)                -                   -                  3,773              
Shares issued on conversion of warrants 1,923              -                  -                   -                  1,923              
Shares issued under rights offering 158,367           -                  -                   -                  158,367           
Share issue costs under rights offering (3,662)             -                  -                   -                  (3,662)             
Backstop warrants issued under rights offering -                  9,132              -                   -                  9,132              
Shares issued in consideration for acquired business 54,214             -                  -                   -                  54,214             
Equity-based payments -                  249                 -                   -                  249                 

Balance, December 31, 2021 $ 254,728           $ 9,577              $ 1,033               $ (36,179)           $ 229,159           

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.



  
  

GREENFIRST FOREST PRODUCTS INC.
(formerly Itasca Capital Ltd.)
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flow
(In thousands of Canadian Dollars)

Year ended December 31 Note(s) 2021 2020
Cash provided by (used in):
Operating activities:
Net loss $ (9,619)                      $ (2,250)                      
Adjustments for:

Depreciation and amortization 9,10,12 7,500                       -                          
Deferred tax recovery 16        (1,613)                      
Foreign exchange loss 536                          110                          
Realized gain on sale of securities -                          (347)                         
Stock option expense 18        249                          42                            
Finance costs, net 6          6,176                       31                            
Interest paid 14        (4,502)                      -                          
Net periodic benefit cost of pension and postretirement 
   plans in excess of funding 71                            -                          
Other 171                          (91)                          

Changes in non-cash working capital and other:

Accounts receivables (24,681)                    -                          
Inventory (8,269)                      -                          
Other assets (101)                         (355)                         
Accounts payable 38,016                     1,260                       

Total cash provided by (used in) operating activities 3,935                       (1,600)                      
Investing activities
Acquisitions 4          (245,062)                  (11,516)                    
Investment 20        (500)                         -                          
Purchase of property, plant and equipment 9          (6,092)                      -                          
Net proceeds from sale of securities -                          651                          
Total cash used in investing activities (251,654)                  (10,865)                    
Financing activities
Shares and warrants issued under rights offering 17        167,499                   -                          
Share issue costs 17        (3,662)                      (138)                         
Issuance of shares and warrants in private placement 17        -                          1,000                       
Issuance of convertible debentures, net of issuance costs 15        -                          3,973                       
Term debt 14        126,103                   -                          
Repayment of term debt 14        (1,585)                      -                          
Deferred financing costs 14        (12,533)                    -                          
Exercise of warrants 17        1,830                       -                          
Exercise of options 18        1,449                       -                          
Repayment of lease obligations 12        (491)                         -                          
Total cash provided by financing activities 278,610                   4,835                       
Increase (decrease) in cash 30,891                     (7,630)                      
Cash, beginning of the year 5,282                       12,912                     
Cash, end of the year $ 36,173                     $ 5,282                       

Cash taxes paid $ -                          $ -                          

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.



GREENFIRST FOREST PRODUCTS INC. 
(formerly Itasca Capital Ltd.) 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
For the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 
(In thousands of Canadian dollars unless otherwise stated) 
 
1. NATURE OF OPERATIONS 

 
GreenFirst Forest Products Inc. ("GreenFirst", the "Company", "we", "us" or "our") began operating as a 
forest products business on August 28, 2021 with the acquisition of six sawmills and one paper mill 
collectively located in Ontario and Quebec. The Company manufactures and markets high quality forest 
products. 
 
The Company also owns a sawmill in Kenora, Ontario, which was acquired on October 6, 2020 and remains 
idle. Prior to the 2020 acquisition of the Kenora sawmill, the Company had no operations and held cash 
and marketable securities through its subsidiary 1347 Investors LLC. Effective January 13, 2021, the 
Company changed its name from “Itasca Capital Ltd.” to GreenFirst Forest Products Inc. 
 
The Company operates in two business segments, Forest Products and Paper Products. Through its Forest 
Products segment, the Company manufactures and markets a wide range of spruce-pine-fir ("SPF") lumber 
products for use in residential and commercial construction with by-products from production sold to pulp-
producers and the Company’s Paper Products segment. The Paper Products segment manufactures and 
markets paper grade products used to print newspapers, advertising materials, food service bags and other 
publications. 
 
The Company’s head office and registered records office is Suite 1000 – 401 The West Mall, Toronto, 
Ontario, M9C 5J5. The Company’s common shares are listed on the Toronto Stock Exchange ("TSX") 
under the trading symbol "GFP", effective February 10, 2022. Prior to being listed on the TSX, the 
Company’s common shares were listed on the TSX Venture Exchange ("TSXV").  
 
The Company’s fiscal year end is the last day of the calendar year. During the year ended December 31, 
2021, for interim reporting periods, the Company changed its accounting policy for the date of interim period 
end dates and commenced to use the last Saturday of the fiscal quarter. 

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION 
 

Statement of Compliance 

These consolidated financial statements ("Financial Statements") are prepared in accordance and in 
compliance with International Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRS") as issued by the International 
Accounting Standards Board ("IASB") and Interpretations of the IFRS Interpretations Committee ("IFRIC").  
 
These Financial Statements were approved by the Company’s Board of Directors ("Board") on March 23, 
2022. 
 
Basis of Measurement  

These Financial Statements have been prepared under the historical cost basis, except where otherwise 
stated in the applicable accounting policies. 
 
Basis of Consolidation 

These Financial Statements include the accounts of the Company and the subsidiaries over which the 
Company exercises control. Control is achieved when the Company is exposed to, or has rights to, variable 
returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over 
the entity. The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in these Financial Statements from when 
control commences until the date on which control ceases. The financial statements of the subsidiaries are 
prepared for the same reporting period and apply the same accounting policies as the Company.  
 
All transactions between consolidated entities are eliminated in the consolidation of these Financial 
Statements. Set out below is a list of significant subsidiaries of the Company: 



GREENFIRST FOREST PRODUCTS INC. 
(formerly Itasca Capital Ltd.) 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
For the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 
(In thousands of Canadian dollars unless otherwise stated) 
 

 
(1) Formerly 9437-6001 Quebec Inc. 
  
Use of Estimates and Judgments  

The preparation of these Financial Statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make 
judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported 
amount of assets, liabilities, income and expenses and disclosures at the date of these Financial 
Statements. 
 
The preparation of these Financial Statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions 
that affect the amounts reported in the Financial Statements and accompanying notes. It also requires 
management to exercise judgment in the process of applying accounting policies. Significant areas 
requiring estimation and judgment include: assessing the fair value and net realizable value of inventory 
based on estimated selling prices, costs of completion, applicable duties, transportation costs and disposal 
costs; estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment; recoverability of long-lived assets; fair value 
of the consideration paid and of the acquired assets and liabilities assumed on acquisitions (which are 
being measured on provisional basis); decommissioning obligations; and employee future benefits. Actual 
amounts could differ materially from these and other estimates, the impact of which would be recorded in 
future periods.  
 
Functional and Presentation Currency 

These Financial Statements are presented in Canadian dollars, which is the Company’s functional currency. 
The functional currency of the Company’s wholly owned subsidiary 1347 Investors LLC is US dollars, and 
accordingly, its financial statements are converted into Canadian dollars for purposes of consolidation.  
 
Reclassification 

Certain amounts in prior periods have been reclassified to conform with the presentation for the current 
year. 

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ESTIMATES 

Cash and Cash Equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents include cash held in bank accounts and time deposits and other investments 
that are highly liquid with original maturities of three months or less when purchased. 
 
Accounts Receivable and Allowance for Expected Credit Losses 

Trade accounts receivable are stated at the net amount expected to be collected. All customers are granted 
credit on a short-term basis. The Company maintains an allowance for expected credit losses resulting from 
the inability of its customers to make required payments. The Company's allowance is established based 
on historical patterns of accounts receivable collections and expected losses, including consideration of 
general economic conditions. Outstanding accounts receivable balances are reviewed frequently or when 
circumstances indicate a review is warranted, for example if there is a significant change in the aging of a 
customer’s receivables or a customer’s financial condition.  
 
Inventory 

Finished goods and raw materials inventories are valued at the lower of cost, as determined on the first-in, 
first-out basis for individual products, and net realizable value. Net realizable value is the estimated selling 

Subsidiary Jurisdiction
Direct or Indirect 
Ownership

Date of control and 
consolidation

1347 Investors LLC Delaware, USA 100% November 19, 2019

Lumber Assets Holding L.P. Ontario, Canada 100% September 8, 2020

2776034 Ontario Inc. Ontario, Canada 100% September 8, 2020

GreenFirst Forest Products (QC) Inc.(1) Quebec, Canada 100% March 16, 2021



GREENFIRST FOREST PRODUCTS INC. 
(formerly Itasca Capital Ltd.) 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
For the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 
(In thousands of Canadian dollars unless otherwise stated) 
 
price of the inventory at the period-end less duties, transportation, disposal costs and reasonably 
predictable costs of completion. Work-in-process and manufacturing and maintenance supplies are valued 
at average cost. Inventory costs include material, transportation, labor and manufacturing overhead. The 
need for a provision for estimated losses from obsolete, excess or slow-moving inventories is reviewed 
periodically. The amount of any write-down of inventories to net realizable value and all losses of inventories 
are recognized as an expense in the period the write-down or loss occurs. The amount of any reversal of 
any write-down of inventories, arising from an increase in net realizable value, is recognized as a reduction 
in inventories recognized as an expense in the period in which the reversal occurs. 
 
Property, Plant, and Equipment and Depreciation 

Property, plant and equipment is recorded at cost, including applicable freight, capitalized borrowing costs, 
construction and installation costs, less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses. 
If significant parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, then they are 
accounted for as separate items (major components) of property, plant and equipment. The production 
related plant and equipment in the Forest Products segment are depreciated using the straight-line method 
over 2 to 20 years. The production related plant and equipment in the Paper Products segment are 
depreciated using the units-of-production method. The total units of production used to calculate 
depreciation expense is determined by factoring annual production days, based on normal production 
conditions, by the economic useful life of the asset involved. The Company depreciates its non-production 
assets, including office, lab and transportation equipment, using the straight-line depreciation method over 
3 to 25 years. Buildings and land improvements are depreciated using the straight-line method over 15 to 
35 years and 5 to 30 years, respectively. Land is not depreciated.  
 
Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted 
where required. Gains and losses on the retirement of assets are included in net loss.  
 
Logging roads and bridges with a useful life greater than one year are capitalized at construction costs less 
any government assistance, accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.  Subsequent expenditure is 
capitalized only if it is probable that the future economic benefits associated with the expenditures will flow 
to the Company. Depreciation of roads and bridges is based on harvestable timber accessed for the period 
relative to the total harvestable timber made accessible by the road or bridge. 
 
Leases 

At lease commencement date, the Company recognizes a right of use ("ROU") asset and a lease liability 
on the statement of financial position. The right of use asset is measured at cost, which is made up of the 
initial measurement of the lease liability, any initial direct costs incurred by the Company, an estimate of 
any costs to dismantle and remove the asset at the end of the lease, and any lease payments made in 
advance of the lease commencement date (net of any incentives received). 
 
The Company depreciates the ROU assets on a straight-line basis from the lease commencement date to 
the earlier of the end of the useful life of the ROU asset or the end of the lease term. The Company also 
assesses the ROU asset for impairment when such indicators exist. On the statement of financial position, 
right of use assets and non-current lease liabilities have been disclosed separately and short-term lease 
liabilities have been included in other liabilities. 
 
At the commencement date, the Company measures the lease liability at the present value of the lease 
payments unpaid at that date, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease if that rate is readily 
available or the Company’s incremental borrowing rate. Lease payments included in the measurement of 
the lease liability are made up of fixed payments (including in substance fixed), variable payments based 
on an index or rate, amounts expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee and payments 
arising from options reasonably certain to be exercised. After its initial measurement, the liability will be 
reduced for payments made and increased for interest. It is remeasured to reflect any reassessment or 
modification, or if there are changes in in-substance fixed payments. When the lease liability is remeasured, 
the corresponding adjustment is reflected in the ROU asset, or in net loss if the right of use asset is already 
reduced to zero. 



GREENFIRST FOREST PRODUCTS INC. 
(formerly Itasca Capital Ltd.) 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
For the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 
(In thousands of Canadian dollars unless otherwise stated) 
 
The Company has elected to account for short-term leases and leases of low-value assets using the 
practical expedients allowed under IFRS 16, Leases. Instead of recognizing a ROU asset and lease liability, 
the payments in relation to these are recognized in net loss on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 
 
Business Combinations 

The Company accounts for business combinations using the acquisition method when the acquired set of 
activities and assets meets the definition of a business and control is transferred to the Company. The 
consideration transferred in the acquisition is generally measured at fair value, as are the identifiable net 
assets acquired. Any goodwill recognized is measured by the excess fair value of the consideration over 
the fair value of the identifiable net assets on the acquisition date. The determination of the fair value of the 
assets acquired and liabilities assumed requires management to use estimates that contain uncertainty, 
assumptions and judgement. The Company engages valuations experts to assist in the assessment of the 
fair values of property, plant and equipment, and intangible assets. Transaction costs in connection with 
the business combination are expensed as incurred.  
 
Impairment of Non-Financial Assets 

The Company reviews non-financial assets, including property, plant and equipment and timber licenses, 
for recoverability whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that their carrying amount may not 
be recoverable.  
 
Cash generating units ("CGUs") are reviewed at their lowest level for which identifiable cash inflows are 
largely independent of cash inflows of other assets or groups of assets. The recoverable amount is the 
greater of its value in use and its fair value less cost to sell. Value in use is based on estimates of discounted 
future cash flows expected to be recovered from a CGU, CGU group or asset through its use. Management 
develops its cash flow projections based on past performance and its expectations of future market and 
business developments. Once calculated, the estimated future pre-tax cash flows are discounted to their 
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of 
money and the risks specific to the CGU. 
 
Fair value less cost to sell is the amount obtainable from the sale of an asset, CGU or CGU group in an 
arm’s-length transaction between knowledgeable, willing parties, less the costs to sell. Costs to sell are 
incremental costs directly attributable to the disposal or sale of an asset or CGU, excluding financing costs 
and income tax expense. 
 
An impairment charge is recognized in net loss when the carrying amount of any asset, CGU, or CGU group 
exceeds its estimated recoverable amount. Impairment losses recognized in respect of CGUs or CGU 
group are allocated, first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the CGU or CGU group, 
and then to reduce the net carrying amount of the other assets in the CGU or CGU group on a pro rata 
basis.  
 
Impairment losses related to non-financial assets recognized in prior periods are assessed at each reporting 
date for any indications that the loss has decreased or no longer exists. An impairment loss is reversed if 
there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. An impairment loss 
is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that 
would have been determined, net of depreciation and amortization, if no previous impairment loss had been 
recognized. 
 
Maintenance Costs 

The Company performs scheduled inspections, repairs and maintenance of plant machinery and equipment 
at the Company’s manufacturing facilities during a full plant shutdown. When each major inspection is 
performed, its related cost is recognized in the carrying amount of the item of property, plant and equipment 
as a replacement if the recognition criteria are satisfied. Any remaining carrying amount of the cost of the 
previous inspection (as distinct from physical parts) is derecognized. This occurs regardless of whether the 
cost of the previous inspection was identified in the transaction in which the item was acquired or 
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constructed. If necessary, the estimated cost of a similar inspection may be used as an indication of what 
the cost of the existing inspection component was when the item was acquired or constructed. 
 
Biological Assets 
 
Timber on owned timberlands is accounted for as a biological asset and is recognized at fair value less 
costs to sell at each reporting date. Any change in fair value less costs to sell are recorded in net loss. 
  
Timber Licences 

Timber licences include tree farm licences, forest licences and timber licences with the Provinces of Ontario 
and Quebec. Timber licences are carried at cost less accumulated amortization and any impairment losses. 
Timber licences are depreciated using the straight-line method over the period of the licence and expected 
renewal periods. The Company deems renewable timber licences to have a useful life of 40 years.   
 
Income Taxes 

Current tax comprises of the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year 
and any adjustment to the tax payable or receivable in respect of previous years. It is measured using tax 
rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date. Current tax assets and liabilities are offset 
only if certain criteria are met.  
 
The Company follows the asset and liability method of accounting for deferred income taxes. Under this 
method deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to 
differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their 
respective tax bases, and losses carried forward.  
 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted or substantively enacted tax rates that are 
expected to apply to taxable income in the periods in which those temporary differences are expected to 
be recovered or settled. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is 
recognized in net loss in the period that includes the substantive enactment date. Deferred income tax 
assets are only recognized to the extent that they are considered probable to be realized. 
 
Revenue Recognition and Measurement 

Revenue is recognized when performance obligations under the terms of a contract with a customer are 
satisfied. The majority of the Company’s contracts have a single performance obligation to transfer 
products. Accordingly, the Company recognizes revenue when control has been transferred to the 
customer. Generally, control passes upon delivery to a location in accordance with terms and conditions of 
the sale. Changes in customer contract terms and conditions as well as the timing of orders and shipments, 
may have an impact on the timing of revenue recognition. 
 
Revenue is measured as the amount of consideration the Company expects to receive in exchange for 
transferring its products and is generally based upon contractual arrangements with customers or published 
indices. Revenue includes amounts charged to customers for shipping and handling.  The Company sells 
its products both directly to customers and through distributors and agents, typically under agreements, 
with payment terms typically less than 15 days for lumber sales and less than 60 days for by-products and 
paper products sales. 
 
The Company has excluded from net sales any value-add, sales and other taxes which are collected 
concurrently with its revenue-producing activities. 
 
The nature of the Company’s contracts may give rise to variable consideration, which may be constrained, 
including sales volume-based rebates to customers. The Company estimates the level of sales volumes 
based on anticipated purchases at the beginning of the period and records a rebate accrual for each 
purchase toward the requisite rebate volume. These estimated rebates are included in the transaction price 
as a reduction to net sales. 
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Contract liabilities primarily relate to prepayments received from customers before revenue is recognized 
and sales volume rebates payable to customers. These amounts are included in other liabilities (Note 11).  
 
Decommissioning Obligations 

Decommissioning obligations relate to the Company’s responsibility under various timber licences and 
obligations related to landfill closure and other site remediation costs. The Company records the present 
value of a liability for decommissioning obligations in the period that a reasonable estimate can be made. 
The present value of the liability is added to the carrying amount of the associated asset and amortized 
over its useful life or, if there is no associated asset, it is expensed in net loss. Decommissioning obligations 
are reviewed annually and changes to estimates result in an adjustment of the carrying amount of the 
associated asset or, where there is no asset, they are credited or charged to net loss.  
 
Decommissioning obligations are discounted at the risk-free rate at the reporting date and accreted over 
time through periodic charges to profit and loss. The liabilities are reduced by actual costs of settlement.  
 

Employee Benefit Plans 

The determination of expense and funding requirements for the Company’s defined benefit pension and 
post-retirement health care and life insurance plans are largely based on actuarial assumptions. The key 
assumptions include discount rate, return on assets, salary increases, health care cost trends, mortality 
rates, longevity and service lives of employees. 
 
Changes in the funded status of the Company’s plans are recorded through other comprehensive earnings 
(loss) in the year in which the changes occur. Actuarial gains and losses, which occur when actual 
experience differs from actuarial assumptions, are reflected in accumulated other comprehensive earnings 
(loss), net of taxes. When the calculation results in a net benefit asset, the recognized asset is limited to 
the total of any unrecognized past service costs and the present value of economic benefits available in the 
form of future refunds from the plan or reductions in future contributions to the plan (the “asset ceiling”). To 
calculate the present value of economic benefits, consideration is given to minimum funding requirements 
that apply to the plan. Where it is anticipated that the Company will not be able to recover the value of the 
net defined benefit asset, after considering minimum funding requirements for future services, the net 
defined benefit asset is reduced to the amount of the asset ceiling. The impact of the asset ceiling is 
recognized in other comprehensive earnings (loss).  
 
The Company’s obligations for contributions to employee defined contribution pension plans are recognized 
in net loss in the periods during which services are rendered by employees. 
 
Short-term employee benefits are expensed as the related service is provided. A liability is recognized for 
the amount expected to be paid if the Company has a present legal or constructive obligation to pay this 
amount as a result of past service provided by the employee and the obligation can be estimated reliably. 
 
Share-based compensation 
 
Stock options 
 
Under the Company’s Omnibus Equity Incentive Plan, the Company may grant stock options to directors, 
officers, employees and contractors. The Company measures equity settled share-based payments based 
on their fair value at the grant date using the Black-Scholes option pricing model and recognizes 
compensation expense over the vesting period based on the Company’s estimate of equity instruments 
that will eventually vest. Expected forfeitures are estimated at the date of grant and subsequently adjusted 
if further information indicates actual forfeitures may vary from the original estimate. The impact of the 
revision of the original estimate is recognized in profit or loss such that the cumulative expense reflects the 
revised estimate. Consideration paid by employees or non-employees on the exercise of stock options is 
recorded as share capital and the related share-based compensation is transferred from share-based 
reserve to share capital. 
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Performance Share Units ("PSUs”) 
 
Under the Company’s Omnibus Equity Incentive Plan, the Company may grant PSUs to select employees. 
The PSUs are cash-settled instruments and are accounted for as a financial liability. The liability is 
remeasured at each reporting period based on the performance criteria specified for each grant. The fair 
value of the PSUs is recognized as an expense over the vesting period using the cliff vesting approach, 
with changes resulting from fair value remeasurements recognized at each reporting period in net loss. The 
PSUs are automatically settled upon the vesting date of the grant. 
 
Loss Per Share  

Loss per share is calculated by dividing the net loss for the period attributable to the common shareholders 
by the weighted average number of common shares issued and outstanding during the year.   
 
The diluted weighted average number of shares is calculated using the treasury stock method. When 
earnings available to common shareholders for diluted earnings per share are greater than earnings 
available to common shareholders for basic earnings per share, the calculation is anti-dilutive and diluted 
earnings per share are deemed to be the same as basic earnings per share.  
 
Provisions 

Provisions are recognized for liabilities of uncertain timing or amounts that have arisen as a result of past 
transactions. The provision is measured at the best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the 
obligation at the reporting date. Where the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are 
measured by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market 
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability. The unwinding of the discount 
is recognized in net loss. 
 

Financial Instruments  

All financial assets and liabilities are initially measured at fair value and subsequently measured at 
amortized cost using the effective interest rate method, except for the Company’s investment, which is 
subsequently measured at fair value through profit and loss. 
 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognized when the Company becomes a party to the 
contractual provisions of the financial instrument. Financial assets are derecognized when the contractual 
rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire, or when the financial asset and substantially all the 
risks and rewards are transferred. A financial liability is derecognized when it is extinguished, discharged, 
cancelled, or expires. 
 
Except for those trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing component and are measured 
at the transaction price in accordance with IFRS 15, Revenue from Contracts with Customers, all financial 
assets are initially measured at fair value adjusted for transaction costs (where applicable).  
 
Fair Value Measurement 

Fair value is defined as the exchange price that would be received for an asset or paid to transfer a liability 
(an exit price) in the principal or most advantageous market for the asset or liability in an orderly transaction 
between market participants at the measurement date. A three-level hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs 
used to measure fair value was established as follows: 
 
Level 1 — Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. 
 
Level 2 — Observable inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1, such as quoted prices for similar 
assets and liabilities in active markets, quoted prices for identical or similar assets and liabilities in markets 
that are not active, or other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by observable market data. 
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Level 3 — Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are significant to 
the fair value of the assets or liabilities. This includes certain pricing models, discounted cash flows 
methodologies and similar techniques that use significant unobservable inputs. 
 

Foreign Exchange 

Transactions in currencies other than the Canadian dollar are recorded at the rates of exchange prevailing 
on the dates of the transactions or at average rates of exchange. At the end of each reporting period, 
monetary assets and liabilities of the Company that are denominated in foreign currencies are translated 
at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in the 
foreign currency are only translated at the date of the transaction and not re-translated at a subsequent 
period-end. The Company translates the assets and liabilities of foreign operations from US dollars to 
Canadian dollars using the closing foreign exchange rate at the end of the reporting period. Income and 
expenses are translated at the average exchange rate for the reporting period. The foreign exchange gains 
and losses are recorded through profit and loss and foreign currency translation differences are recorded 
through other comprehensive earnings (loss). 
 
Future Changes in Accounting Policies 

Amendments to IAS 37, Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets 
 
On May 14, 2020, the IASB issued Onerous Contracts – Cost of Fulfilling a Contract and amendments to 
IAS 37, Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets to specify which costs to include in 
determining the "cost of fulfilling" a potential onerous or loss-making contract. The amendments are 
effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2022. The amendments are effective for 
contracts for which an entity has not yet fulfilled all its obligations on or after the effective date. The Company 
is assessing the impact of the amendments and does not expect any material financial impact from the 
adoption of these amendments. 
 
Amendment to IAS 16, Property, Plant and Equipment 
 
In May 2020, the IASB issued an amendment to IAS 16, Property, Plant and Equipment - Proceeds before 
Intended Use. The amendment prohibits deducting from the cost of an item of property, plant and equipment 
any proceeds from selling items produced while bringing that asset to the location and condition necessary 
for it to be ready for its intended use. Instead, an entity recognizes the proceeds from selling such items, 
and the cost of producing those items, in net loss. The amendment is effective for annual periods beginning 
on or after January 1, 2022. The Company is assessing the impact of the amendment and does not expect 
any material financial impact from the adoption of the amendment. 
 
Amendments to IAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements 
 
In October 2018, the IASB issued amendments to IAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements to clarify the 
definition of ‘material’ in the context of applying IFRS. The amendments require an entity to disclose their 
material accounting policies information rather than their significant accounting policies. The amendments 
are effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2023. The Company is assessing the 
impact of these amendments and does not expect any changes to the disclosure of its accounting policies 
from the adoption of these amendments. 
 
In January 2020, The IAS issued amendments to IAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements, to provide a 
more general approach to the presentation of liabilities as current or non-current based on contractual 
arrangements in place at the reporting date. The amendments specify that the rights and conditions existing 
at the end of the reporting period are relevant in determining whether the Company has a right to defer 
settlement of a liability by at least 12 months, provided that management’s expectations are not a relevant 
consideration as to whether the Company will exercise its rights to defer settlement of a liability. The 
amendments also clarify when a liability is considered settled. The amendments are effective for annual 
periods beginning on or after January 1, 2023, and are to be applied retrospectively upon adoption. The 
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Company is assessing the impact of the amendments and does not expect any material financial impact 
from the adoption of these amendments. 
 
Amendments to IAS 12, Income Taxes 
 
On May 7, 2021, the IASB issued amendments to IAS 12, Income Taxes ("IAS 12") – Deferred Tax Related 
to Assets and Liabilities Arising from a Single Transaction. The amendments clarify that the initial 
recognition exemption under IAS 12 does not apply to transactions that give rise to equal taxable and 
deductible temporary differences. The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 
January 1, 2023. The Company is assessing the impact of the amendments and does not expect any 
significant financial impact from the adoption of these amendments. 
 
4. ACQUISITION OF SAWMILLS AND PAPER MILL 
 
Acquisition of Rayonier mills 
 
On August 28, 2021, the Company acquired a business consisting of six sawmills and one paper mill, all 
located in either Ontario or Quebec, from certain Canadian subsidiaries of Rayonier Advanced Materials 
Inc. ("RYAM") (the "Rayonier Asset Acquisition"), for aggregate consideration of $294.1 million consisting 
of $245.1 million in cash (US$193.5 million), $54.2 million in common shares, partially offset by net 
receivables and estimated final adjustment balances of $5.2 million, which includes a $7.9 million credit 
note ("Rayonier Credit Note") issued to the vendor to be paid in five equal annual installments. The 
Company also recognized a deferred tax liability from the acquisition of $5.9 million. The Company and 
Rayonier Advanced Materials Inc. have together engaged a third party arbitrator to finalize inventory 
valuation related adjustments. The Company has recorded an estimate of the amount of purchase price 
reduction as part of the estimated final adjustments in trade and other receivables including a $7.7 million 
receivable related to the estimated final inventory adjustments for inventory consideration paid at closing 
that is still under negotiation. Any changes to the purchase price adjustment estimate will be recorded in 
future periods when they are known.  
 
The common share consideration resulted in the issuance of 28,684,433 common shares of the Company 
with a fair value of $1.89 per common share. The Rayonier Credit Note consideration is non-interest 
bearing, is payable in five equal annual installments on the anniversary of the closing and has been 
discounted to its net present value. The Company intends to set-off the principal amount of the Rayonier 
Credit Note against amounts owing by the vendor to the Company under a chip purchase agreement. 
Acquisition costs of $7.7 million, specifically related to the Rayonier Asset Acquisition, were expensed as 
part of acquisition and transaction related costs on the statements of earnings (loss). 
 
The Company has determined that the transaction represents a business combination under IFRS 3, 
Business Combinations ("IFRS 3"), with the Company identified as the acquirer and accordingly the 
transaction has been accounted for using the acquisition method of accounting in accordance with IFRS 3. 
 
The Company has measured and recorded the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed at 
management’s estimates of their acquisition-date fair values. The preliminary estimated fair values of 
assets acquired and liabilities assumed are based on the information available as of and since the 
acquisition date, which the Company believes provides a reasonable basis for estimating the fair values. 
Property, plant and equipment is valued using the cost approach, where the value of an asset is based on 
an estimate of the cost to purchase or replace the asset, adjusted for the estimated useful lives and physical 
condition, and functional and economic obsolescence at the date of acquisition. Inventory is valued based 
on the estimated selling price at the date of acquisition, less estimated costs to complete and sell, including 
duties and transportation, and a reasonable profit allowance for the completion and selling effort.  
 
As the acquisition is within the measurement period, the Company and its external valuation experts are 
still assessing acquisition date fair value adjustments, including fair values of property, plant and equipment 
and related depreciation charges, leases and estimated final purchase price adjustments related to 
inventory and other items. The measurement period is the period from the acquisition date to the date 
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complete information about facts and circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date is received. 
However, the measurement period does not exceed one year from the acquisition date. 
 
The Company’s preliminary estimate of fair values is as follows: 

  
 

  
 
The preliminary estimates of the fair values of net identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed 
reasonably approximate the fair value of the consideration, and therefore it has been determined that there 
is no goodwill. The revenues from the acquired business included in the consolidated financial statements 
of the Company since the acquisition on August 28, 2021 were $190.5 million and the proforma unaudited 
revenue of the Company if the acquisition had occurred on January 1, 2021 was $633.8 million. Net 
earnings from the acquired business since acquisition was $3.6 million. The Company does not have 
access to all of the records necessary to practicably determine the earnings from the business had the 
acquisition occurred on January 1, 2021. 
 
As part of the Rayonier Asset Acquisition, the Company entered into a Transaction Services Agreement 
("RYAM TSA”), under which RYAM would provide services to the Company in the areas of IT support, 
general accounting, treasury, and other day-to-day operations for a period of time. During the year ended 
December 31, 2021, the fees related to services provided under the RYAM TSA were $1.1 million.     
 
Additionally, the Company has ongoing sales transactions with RYAM, the terms and conditions for which 
are the same as those entered into by other parties transacting with the Company.  
 
Acquisition of Kenora mill 
 
On October 6, 2020 the Company acquired an idled sawmill and related assets located in Kenora, Ontario 
for cash consideration of $11.5 million plus capitalized costs. The purchased assets are comprised of a 
sawmill, related equipment and land of approximately 114 acres plus a 4 acre island. The acquisition did 
not meet the criteria for business combination in accordance with IFRS 3 and therefore has been accounted 
for as an acquisition of assets. The allocation of the purchase price was determined based on the relative 
fair values of each asset as of the acquisition date as determined by third party valuation specialists. The 
assets acquired are as follows: 
 

 

Purchase price consideration:
Cash $ 245,062           
Common shares of the Company 54,214             
Indebtedness and estimated final adjustments (5,166)             
Total consideration $ 294,110           

Preliminary estimate of fair value of net assets acquired:
Inventory $ 98,935             
Property, plant and equipment 171,634           
Timber licenses 11,814             
Other assets 9,089              
Pension plans in asset positions 30,186             
Other non-current liabilities (4,654)             
Other liabilities (5,598)             
Post-retirement obligations (11,365)           
Deferred tax liabilities (5,931)             
Total fair value $ 294,110           

Fair value of net assets acquired:
Land $ 2,053              

Building 4,685              

Equipment 4,778              

Total fair value $ 11,516             
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5. SELLING, GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES 
 

  
 
6. FINANCE COSTS, NET 

 

7. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 
 

 
 
There were no comparable balances as at December 31, 2020.  
 
8. INVENTORY 
 

  
 
The Company recognized $129.7 million of inventory in cost of sales during the year ended December 31, 
2021. There were no comparable balances as at December 31, 2020 or for the year ended December 31, 
2020.  
 
 
 
 
 
 

Year ended December 31 2021 2020
Salaries and benefits $ 1,601                         $ 94                              
Third party fees and other services 4,521                         2,328                         
Administration, office and facility costs 2,310                         240                            
Total selling, general and administrative expenses $ 8,432                         $ 2,662                         

Year ended December 31 2021 2020

Interest on Term Debt (Note 14) $ 4,502                        $ -                            

Accretion of Term Debt financing costs (Note 14) 932                           -                            

Amortization of capitalized ABL fees (Note 14) 196                           -                            

Interest on convertible debentures (Note 14) -                            31                             

Accretion expense for lease liabilities (Note 12) 43                             -                            

Accretion expense related to Rayonier Credit Note (Note 11) 178                           -                            

Interest income (22)                            -                            

Bank charges and other 347                           -                            

Finance costs, net $ 6,176                        $ 31                             

As at December 31 2021
Accounts receivable, trade $ 21,605                       
Value added tax receivable 5,406                         
Accounts receivable, other (Note 4) 11,214                       
Allowance for expected credit losses (158)                           
Total trade and other receivables $ 38,067                       

As at December 31 2021
Finished goods $ 49,751                       
Work-in-process 20,902                       
Raw materials 31,495                       
Manufacturing and maintenance supplies 5,056                         
Total inventory $ 107,204                     
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9. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 

 

 
On September 17, 2020, the Company entered into an agreement to acquire a sawmill and related assets 
located in Kenora, Ontario from the court appointed receiver for $11.5 million in cash. The acquisition closed 
on October 6, 2020. The assets purchased comprise a dormant sawmill and related equipment and land of 
approximately 118 acres.  
 
Please refer to Note 4 – Acquisitions of Sawmills and Paper Mill, for further information on assets acquired 
as part of the Rayonier Asset Acquisition.   

As part of the Rayonier Asset Acquisition, the Company also acquired private timberlands that the Company 
can harvest for operational and production requirements when needed. The private timberlands are 
included in land and buildings and were fair valued at $15.8 million. This fair value includes $2.0 million 
attributable to the fair value of the biological assets on the land. There was no harvesting activity or changes 
in fair value of the biological assets post acquisition. 
 
10. TIMBER LICENCES 
 

 
 
The Company’s timber licences were acquired as part of the Rayonier Asset Acquisition and relate to 
licences with the provinces of Ontario and Quebec, in connection with the acquired assets.  
 
 
 
 
 
 

Land & 
Buildings

Machinery & 
Equipment

Roads & 
Bridges 

Furniture & 
Fixtures

Construction-
in-progress Total

Gross carrying amount:
Balance, January 1, 2021 $ 6,749            $ 4,778            $ -                $ -                $ -                $ 11,527           
Additions from acquisitions 46,367           103,541         12,135           479               9,112            171,634         
Additions -                169               -                -                5,923            6,092            
Transfers -                1,781            -                -                (1,781)           -                
Balance, December 31, 2021 $ 53,116           $ 110,269         $ 12,135           $ 479               $ 13,254           $ 189,253         

Accumulated depreciation:
Balance, January 1, 2021 $ (10)                $ -                $ -                $ -                $ -                $ (10)                
Depreciation (696)              (5,431)           (789)              (10)                -                (6,926)           
Balance, December 31, 2021 $ (706)              $ (5,431)           $ (789)              $ (10)                $ -                $ (6,936)           

NBV, January 1, 2021 $ 6,739            $ 4,778            $ -                $ -                $ -                $ 11,517           
NBV, December 31, 2021 $ 52,410           $ 104,838         $ 11,346           $ 469               $ 13,254           $ 182,317         

Cost
Balance, January 1, 2021 $ -                            
Acquisition 11,814                       
Balance, December 31, 2021 $ 11,814                       

Accumulated Amortization
Balance, January 1, 2021 $ -                            
Amortization (98)                            
Balance, December 31, 2021 $ (98)                            

Net book value, December 31, 2021 $ 11,716                       
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11. OTHER LIABILITIES 

 

 
 
There were no comparable balances as at December 31, 2020. 
 
At December 31, 2021, the Company’s other long-term liabilities consisted of $5.0 million of the long-term 
portion of the Rayonier Credit Note (see Note 4 – Acquisition of Sawmills and Paper Mill) and $2.4 million 
related to obligations for decommissioning activities as follows: 
 

 
 

12. RIGHT OF USE ASSETS AND LEASE LIABILITIES 
 
The Company’s leases are primarily for corporate offices, warehouse space, rail cars and equipment. As 
of December 31, 2021, the Company’s leases have remaining lease terms of 1 year to 6 years with standard 
renewal and termination options available at the Company’s discretion. Certain equipment leases have 
purchase options at the end of the term of the lease, which are not included in the lease liabilities or right 
of use assets as it is not reasonably certain that the Company will exercise such options. The Company’s 
lease agreements do not contain any material residual value guarantees or material restrictive covenants. 
 
The Company uses its incremental borrowing rate in determining the present value of lease payments 
unless the lease provides an implicit or explicit interest rate. 
 
The Company’s lease liabilities balance is comprised of the following: 
 

 
 

As at December 31 2021
Accrued payroll and benefits $ 7,675                         
Advances payable 2,319                         
Customer prepayments 684                            
Lease liabilities, current portion (Note 12) 1,272                         
Accrued utilities charges 885                            
Stumpage liabilities 4,961                         
Holdbacks 592                            
Rayonier Credit Note, current portion (Note 4) 1,580                         
Other liabilities 252                            
Total other current liabilities $ 20,220                       

Decommissioning obligations 2021
Balance, January 1, 2021 $ -                            
Additions from acquisitions 2,370                         
Payments (19)                            
Accretion expense 28                              
Balance, December 31, 2021 $ 2,379                         

Lease liability 2021
Balance, January 1, 2021 $ -                 
Additions from acquisitions 3,516              
Additions 336                 
Accretion expense for lease liabilities 43                   
Repayment of lease obligations (491)                
Total lease liability 3,404              
Less: Current portion (1,272)             
Balance, December 31, 2021 $ 2,132              
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The following sets forth commitments related to the lease liabilities: 
 

 
 
The Company’s ROU asset balance is comprised of the following: 
 

 
 

13. PENSION AND OTHER POST-RETIREMENT BENEFITS 
 

Defined Benefit Plans 

As part of the Rayonier Asset Acquisition the Company assumed certain defined benefit pension and other 
post-retirement plans covering certain union and non-union employees in Canada. Benefits under the 
defined pension plans are based on years of service and compensation levels. The defined benefit pension 
plans are closed to new participants. New participants are enrolled in the Company’s defined contribution 
plan. 
 
Defined benefit pension and other post-retirement plan liabilities are calculated using actuarial estimates 
and management assumptions. These estimates are based on historical information, along with certain 
assumptions about future events. Changes in assumptions, as well as changes in actual experience, could 
cause the estimates to change. 
 
The following tables set forth the changes in the accrued benefit obligation and plan assets and reconciles 
the funded status and the amounts recognized in the consolidated statement of financial position for the 
defined benefit pension and post-retirement plans as at December 31, 2021: 
 

Lease 
payments Interest Lease Liability

2022 $ 1,379              $ 107                 $ 1,272              
2023 1,096              66                   1,030              
2024 544                 38                   506                 
2025 187                 25                   162                 
2026 and after 463                 29                   434                 

$ 3,669              $ 265                 $ 3,404              

ROU assets 2021
Balance, January 1, 2021 $ -                 
Additions from acquisitions 3,517              
Additions 341                 
Depreciation for ROU assets (476)                
Balance, December 31, 2021 $ 3,382              



GREENFIRST FOREST PRODUCTS INC. 
(formerly Itasca Capital Ltd.) 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
For the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 
(In thousands of Canadian dollars unless otherwise stated) 
 

 
 

 
 
Non-pension, post-retirement plans are unfunded and the Company’s contributions are made as required. 
 

 
 

 
 
The estimation of post-retirement benefit obligations involves the use of judgment for matters such as 
discount rate, return on assets, salary increases, health care cost trends, mortality rates, longevity and 
service lives of employees. These estimates are determined by management with the assistance of 
independent actuaries. The significant weighted average actuarial assumptions used to determine our 
statement of financial position date post-retirement assets and liabilities and our post-retirement benefit 
plan expenses are as follows: 
 

 

Plan assets Pension Post-retirement
Fair value of plan assets
Fair value of plan assets upon acquisition, August 28, 2021 $ 106,452              $ -                     
Interest income 1,100                  -                     
Remeasurements - actuarial gain 655                     -                     
Employer contributions (transfers) (178)                    -                     
Plan participants’ contributions 3                        -                     
Costs met from plan (95)                     -                     
Benefits paid (837)                    -                     
Fair value of plan assets, December 31, 2021 107,100              -                     
Benefit obligation
Benefits obligation upon acquisition, August 28, 2021 (81,856)               (5,775)                 
Current service cost (874)                    (15)                     
Interest expense (708)                    (55)                     
Plan participant contributions (3)                       -                     
Remeasurements:

Change in membership experience 1,491                  -                     
Changes in financial assumptions (570)                    -                     

Benefits paid 837                     158                     
Benefit obligation, December 31, 2021 (81,683)               (5,687)                 
Net defined benefit asset (liability), December 31, 2021 $ 25,417                $ (5,687)                 

Recognized on the statement of financial position Pension Post-retirement Total
Pension plans in asset positions $ 29,773               $ -                    $ 29,773               
Post-retirement obligations and pension plans in liability positions (4,356)                (5,687)                (10,043)              
Net asset (liability), December 31, 2021 $ 25,417               $ (5,687)                $ 19,730               

Recognized in other comprehensive earnings (loss) Pension Post-retirement
Remeasurement gains $ 1,576                 $ -                    
Other comprehensive earnings (loss) for the period $ 1,576                 $ -                    

Components of net periodic benefit cost Pension Post-retirement
Service cost $ 874                    $ 15                     
Administrative costs paid from plan 95                     -                    
Interest expense 708                    55                     
Interest income (1,100)                -                    
Net pension cost $ 577                    $ 70                     

Pension and other postretirement benefit assumptions Pension Post-retirement
Benefit obligations:

Discount rate 2.66% to 3.00% 2.90%
Future compensation rate increases 2.50% -

Net periodic benefit cost assumptions:
Discount rate 2.66% to 2.75% 2.90%
Compensation rate increases 2.50% -
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Health-care benefit costs, shown under other post-retirement benefit plans, are funded on a pay-as-you-go 
basis. The actuarial assumptions for extended health-care costs are estimated to increase 6.5% in year 
one, grading down by 0.25% per year thereafter.  
 
The impact of a 1% change in certain assumptions used in the estimates of pension and post-retirement 
benefits are as follows: 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
The next regulatory prescribed actuarial valuation date for the defined benefit plans is December 31, 2022. 
Contributions to the unfunded plans, which are part of the defined benefit plans, and other post-retirement 
obligations in 2022, based on the most recent actuarial reports, are expected to amount to $770. 
 
Defined Contribution Plan 
 
New participants in the Company’s pension plans are enrolled in the defined contribution plans.  Under the 
defined contribution plans, the Company is required to make contributions to the plan equal to 5% of the 
member’s remuneration for the pay period. 
 

14. CREDIT FACILITIES AND LONG-TERM DEBT 
 

The Company’s outstanding debt is as follows: 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Discount rate increase $ (10,613)              $ (615)                  
Discount rate decrease 13,426               768                    
Health-care cost trend rate increase n/a 33                     
Health-care cost trend rate decrease n/a (30)                    

Sensitivity to a 1% change in certain assumptions

Pension 
Obligations

Post-retirement 
Obligations

Weighted average duration of defined benefit obligations Years
Pension                    15.3 
Post retirement 13.8

Pension plan asset category allocation Pension
Canadian equity 2%
Foreign equity 6%
Bonds 91%
Real estate 1%
Fair value of plan assets, December 31, 2021 100%

As at December 31 2021
Asset backed revolving loan $ -                            
Term debt - senior secured term credit facility of $US98.75 million 125,196                     
Unamortized deferred financing charges (9,975)                        
Total outstanding 115,221                     
Less: current portion (6,339)                        
Long-term debt $ 108,882                     
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Following are amounts related to the Company’s term debt for the year ended December 31, 2021: 
 

 
 
Contractual minimum principal repayments, exclusive of any repayments under the term debt that are due 
over the next four years are as follows: 
 

 
 
Term Loan - Senior Secured Term Credit Facility 

On August 30, 2021, the Company closed a US$100 million (CAD$126.1 million at closing) senior secured 
term credit facility (the “Term Loan” or term debt) with a term of four years. The Term Loan bears interest 
at a fixed interest rate of 10% until a referenced variable rate (based on LIBOR, Federal Funds Rate, or US 
Prime Rate) exceeds certain thresholds, at which time the interest rate becomes variable. The threshold 
rate for a LIBOR rate loan, above which the interest rate becomes variable is 2%, and for loans based on 
the Federal Fund Rate or US Prime Rate the threshold rate is 3%. As at December 31, 2021, the variable 
rates were below the thresholds rates and the next date for rate determination is March 31, 2022. The 
Company is required to make quarterly payments of principal of US$1.25 million plus interest and the 
balance of the principal is due upon maturity. Additional principal repayments will be required of up to 75% 
of excess cash flow (as defined in the credit agreement of the Term Loan) annually. In addition, there are 
mandatory payment provisions, plus an applicable premium, upon the occurrence of certain events 
including proceeds from the sale of assets and proceeds from equity and debt financing. The facility is 
secured by a first priority security interest in all assets of the Company, except for inventory, accounts 
receivable, cash, deposit accounts and securities accounts, for which it has second priority 
 
The Term Loan includes two financial covenants that must be measured quarterly and are based on a 
trailing 12-months period of operating results for the acquired assets; a maximum leverage ratio and a 
minimum fixed charge coverage ratio each as defined in the credit agreement of the Term Loan. In addition, 
the Company is also required to maintain a minimum liquidity of USD$10.0 million comprising cash and 
availability under its asset backed revolving loan. 
 
The Term Loan agreement also contains various customary affirmative covenants and restrictive covenants 
that limit the Company’s ability to undertake certain transactions without the consent of the lender including: 
creating liens; incurring indebtedness; making investments and acquisitions; engaging in mergers and other 
fundamental changes; making dispositions; making certain payments, including dividends and distributions 
and consummating transactions with affiliates. Additionally, the facility contains customary events of default 
(subject, in certain cases, to customary grace or cure periods), including, without limitation, payment 

Term debt
Balance, January 1, 2021 $ -                            
Term debt - senior secured term credit facility of $US100.0 million 126,103                     
Capitalized deferred financing charges (10,907)                      
Amortization of deferred financing charges 932                            
Accrued interest expense 4,502                         
Interest paid (4,502)                        
Repayment of term debt of $US1.25 million (1,585)                        
Foreign exchange on term debt 678                            
Total term debt outstanding 115,221                     
Less: current portion (6,339)                        
Long-term debt $ 108,882                     

2022 $ 6,339
2023 6,339
2024 6,339
2025 106,179
Total $ 125,196
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defaults, breach of covenant defaults, bankruptcy defaults, judgment defaults, defaults under certain other 
indebtedness and changes in control.  
 
As at December 31, 2021, the Company was in compliance with all covenants under this facility. 
 
In connection with entering into the Term Loan agreement, the Company incurred and capitalized fees 
totaling $10.9 million which are netted against the carrying value of the long-term debt. During the year 
ended December 31, 2021, $0.9 million of deferred financing costs were amortized relating to the Term 
Loan. 
 
Asset Backed Revolving Loan 

On August 28, 2021, the Company closed a $65.0 million asset backed revolving loan (the "ABL") with a 
term of three years. The facility bears a variable interest rate (based on LIBOR, Bankers Acceptances, or 
Royal Bank of Canada prime rate) plus an applicable premium which varies based on the amount of 
borrowing base availability remaining. Amounts available to be drawn under the ABL facility are subject to 
a borrowing base calculation that is based on specified percentages of eligible accounts receivable and 
inventories, as defined in the ABL agreement. The facility is secured by first-priority security interests in 
inventory, accounts receivable, cash, deposit accounts and securities accounts. 
 
The ABL agreement requires the Company to meet a fixed charge coverage ratio once the availability under 
the ABL drops below a certain threshold. The fixed charge coverage ratio cannot be less than 1:1 and is 
calculated on a trailing twelve-month basis, pro-rated for shorter periods. As at December 31, 2021, the 
Company had not drawn under the ABL facility and accordingly was not required to calculate a fixed charge 
coverage ratio as at December 31, 2021. At December 31, 2021 there were $13.7 million of outstanding 
letters of credit issued under the ABL facility, which reduces the amounts available to draw under the ABL 
facility.  
 
The ABL agreement also contains various customary affirmative covenants and restrictive covenants that 
limit the Company’s ability to undertake certain transactions without the consent of the lender including, 
creating liens, incurring indebtedness, making investments and acquisitions, engaging in mergers and other 
fundamental changes, making dispositions, making restricted payments, including dividends and 
distributions and consummating transactions with affiliates. Additionally, the ABL agreement contains 
customary events of default (subject, in certain cases, to customary grace or cure periods), including, 
without limitation, payment defaults, breach of covenant defaults, bankruptcy defaults, judgment defaults, 
defaults under certain other indebtedness and changes in control. As at December 31, 2021, the Company 
was in compliance with all covenants under this facility. 
 
In connection with entering into the ABL agreement and through December 31, 2021, the Company incurred 
and capitalized fees totaling $1.6 million which are disclosed separately as a deferred financing costs on 
the statement of financial position. During the year ended December 31, 2021, $0.2 million of deferred 
financing costs were amortized relating to the ABL. 

15. CONVERTIBLE DEBENTURES 
 
On October 22, 2020, the Company completed a non-brokered Private Placement financing of 2,000,000 
Units at a purchase price of $0.50 per Unit and of 4,000 Convertible Debentures at a purchase price of 
$1,000 per Convertible Debentures, for aggregate gross proceeds of $5.0 million.  
 
Each Convertible Debenture was secured and had a maturity date of two years from the date of issuance. 
The Convertible Debentures bore interest at a rate of 4% per annum until the completion of a Qualified 
Investment (as defined below) and 2% per annum thereafter. If, prior to the maturity date, the Company 
closed an investment in excess of $25.0 million (a “Qualified Investment”) the principal amount of each 
Convertible Debenture, plus accrued interest, would automatically convert at maturity into one common 
share and one warrant (a “Unit) at a price of $0.50 per Unit (provided that the term of any Warrant issued 
in connection therewith will be limited to 5 years from the date of issuance of the Convertible Debenture) to 
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the extent that the issuance of the common shares issuable on conversion of the Convertible Debentures 
and exercise of the associated Warrants did not result in the holder thereof holding 20% or more of issued 
and outstanding common shares of the Company.  On June 24, 2021, the Convertible Debenture was 
amended, following shareholder approval, so that it could be converted into Units, at the option of the 
holders, without regard for the 20% restriction previously mentioned.   
 
Upon initial recognition, the Convertible Debentures were accounted for as compound financial instruments 
with a liability and an equity component representing the conversion feature. The proceeds were allocated 
between the liability and equity component based on their relative fair values. The initial fair value of the 
liability of $3.7 million was determined using a discount cash flow model and a discount rate of 4%, with 
$0.3 million allocated to the equity component. On June 24, 2021, all of the outstanding Convertible 
Debentures were converted into Units at a price of $0.50 per Unit and the majority of accrued interest was 
paid.  As a result, the carrying value of the Convertible Debenture was derecognized and the issuance of 
Units was recognized in shareholders’ equity (refer to, Note 17 – Shareholders’ Equity). 
 
The changes in the carrying value of the liability component are as follows: 
 

 
 

16. INCOME TAXES 
 
The reconciliation of income tax expense (recovery) computed at statutory tax rates to income tax expense 
(recovery), using a 27% (2020 - 27%) statutory rate is: 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Carrying Value
Balance, January 1, 2021 $ 3,702                         
Accretion of discount 70                              
Conversion of debentures (3,772)                        
Balance, December 31, 2021 $ -                            

Year ended December 31 2021 2020
Loss before income taxes $ (11,650)                  $ (2,250)                    
Statutory tax rate 27% 27%

Tax recovery at statutory tax rate $ (3,145)                    $ (607)                       
Non-taxable income/non-deductible expenses (816)                       338                        
Change in unrecognized deferred tax assets 2,206                     307                        
Other (276)                       (38)                        

Deferred income tax recovery $ (2,031)                    $ -                        
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Significant components of the Company’s recognized deferred tax assets and liabilities are shown below: 
 

 
 
The Company has deductible temporary differences and other items for which no deferred tax assets are 
recognized in the statement of financial position as shown below: 
 

 
 
The Rayonier Asset Acquisition, as described in Note 4 – Acquisition of Sawmills and Paper Mill, resulted 
in the accrual of a deferred tax liability of $5.9 million at the time of the acquisition. Between August 28, 
2021 and December 31, 2021 there was a net change in the deferred tax liability of $1.6 million, which was 
recorded as follows: 
 

 

There were no comparable expenses for the year ended December 31, 2020. 
 
As at December 31, 2021, the Company has capital losses carried forward of $15.2 million, which do not 
expire, and Canadian non-capital losses carried forward of $28.3 million, a portion of which may be 
available to offset future years taxable income, subject to certain limitations and restrictions under tax 
legislation. The non-capital losses expire as follows: 
 

As at December 31 2021 2020
Deferred tax assets

Capital assets $ 113                        $ -                        
Decommissioning obligations 630                        -                        
Other tax assets 167                        -                        

Recognized deferred tax assets $ 910                        $ -                        

Deferred tax liabilties
Pension assets & liabilities $ (5,228)                    $ -                        

Recognized deferred tax liabilities $ (5,228)                    $ -                        

Net deferred tax liability recognized $ (4,318)                    $ -                        

2021 2020
Non-capital loss carryforwards $ 28,255                   $ 23,293                   
Capital loss carryforwards (deductible portion) 7,593                     7,593                     
Resource pools 5,397                     5,397                     
Capital assets 1,094                     771                        
Other items 3,028                     109                        
Unrecognized deferred tax assets $ 45,367                   $ 37,163                   

As at December 31

Year ended December 31 2021
Deferred tax expense (recovery) recorded in Consolidated Statement of Loss $ (2,031)                    
Deferred tax expense recorded in Other Comprehensive Income 418                        
Decrease in deferred tax liability $ (1,613)                    



GREENFIRST FOREST PRODUCTS INC. 
(formerly Itasca Capital Ltd.) 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
For the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 
(In thousands of Canadian dollars unless otherwise stated) 
 

 
 

17. SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY 
 
 Share Capital 
  

Authorized 
 
- Unlimited number of common voting shares with no par value. 
- 100,000,000 preferred shares with no par value, none of which are outstanding for the reporting periods 

presented. 
 

Issued and outstanding 
 

Changes to common shares and share capital issued and outstanding are as follows: 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 

Expiry Loss
2027 $ 5,818                     
2028 1,977                     
2029 3,170                     
2030 1,473                     
2031 1,862                     
2032 1,462                     
2033 1,736                     
2034 330                        
2035 1,787                     
2036 1,376                     
2037 239                        
2038 253                        
2039 696                        
2040 2,229                     
2041 3,847                     
Total $ 28,255                   

Number of 
Common Shares Amount

Balance, January 1, 2020 21,810,626           $ 37,590                  
Private placement of shares and warrants 2,000,000             910                      
Share issue costs -                       (138)                     
Balance, December 31, 2020 23,810,626           38,362                  
Conversion of debentures 8,000,000             4,075                    
Exercise of options (note 18) 2,206,000             1,449                    
Shares issued under the rights offering 111,665,880          158,367                
Share issue costs during the period -                       (3,662)                  
Exercise of warrants 3,205,333             1,923                    
Rayonier Asset Acquisition consideration 28,684,433           54,214                  
Balance, December 31, 2021 177,572,272          $ 254,728                
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Convertible Debentures 

On June 24, 2021, all of the outstanding Convertible Debentures were converted into 8,000,000 Units at a 
price of $0.50 per unit with each unit consisting of one common share and one warrant.  The issued common 
shares were recorded at the carrying value of the convertible debenture.  

Rights Offering 

On July 9, 2021, the Company initiated a rights offering (the “Rights Offering”), by issuing three rights 
(“Rights”) for each common share outstanding to shareholders of record at on that date.  Each Right entitled 
the holder to subscribe for one subscription receipt for an exercise price of $1.50 per subscription receipt 
for a period up to July 30, 2021. Each subscription receipt entitled the holder thereof to receive, upon 
satisfaction of certain escrow release conditions, and without payment of additional consideration or further 
action, one common share. On July 30, 2021, the Rights Offering closed resulting in the issuance of 
111,665,880 subscription receipts (the “Subscription Receipts”) for gross proceeds of $167.5 which was 
deposited in escrow pending the completion of the escrow release conditions, primarily the completion of 
the Rayonier Asset Acquisition discussed in Note 4 – Acquisition of Sawmills and Paper Mill.   
 
The Company allocated $9.1 million of the gross proceeds to backstop warrants issued as part of the Rights 
Offering to a party in consideration for providing a backstop commitment, further described below.  
   
On August 28, 2021, each Subscription Receipt was automatically exchanged, without payment of 
additional consideration or further action by the holders thereof, for a total of 111,665,880 common shares 
of the Company.  
 
Warrants 

Changes in outstanding common share purchase warrants were as follows: 
 

 
(1) In dollars per common share. 

 
On July 2, 2021, 3,205,334 warrants were exercised for proceeds of $1.8 million.   
 
As a result of the Rights Offering closing on July 30, 2021, anti-dilution provisions were triggered for 
warrants outstanding at the time of closing.  These warrants had been issued as part of the exchange of 
the convertible notes to Units consisting of common shares and warrants.  By triggering the anti-dilution 
provisions, the number of warrants outstanding increased to 16,060,118 with a new exercise price of 
$0.2538.  These warrants expire October 22, 2025. 
 
In consideration for providing a backstop commitment in connection with the Rights Offering, on July 30, 
2021, Senvest Management, LLC (together with its affiliates and funds of which Senvest Management, LLC 
acts as investment manager, the “Standby Purchaser”) was issued 15,692,500 warrants to acquire 
Common Shares for a period of five years at an exercise price of $3.18. The Standby Purchaser has been 
granted nomination rights in respect of one independent director for so long as it beneficially holds at least 
5% of the issued and outstanding Common Shares of the Company. In addition, registration rights were 
granted to the Standby Purchaser, whereby it can require the Company to file a prospectus to qualify for 

Number of 
Warrants

Weighted Average 

Exercise Price
(1)

Carrying Amount 
in reserves

Balance, January 1, 2020 -                       $ -                       $ -                       
Issued in private placement of Units 2,000,000             0.60                     89                        
Balance, December 31, 2020 2,000,000             0.60                     89                        
Issued upon conversion of debentures 8,000,000             0.60                     -                       
Exercised (3,205,334)            (0.60)                    (89)                       
Adjustments as a result of anti-dilution provisions:
    Number of warrants subject to adjustment (6,794,666)            (0.60)                    -                       
    Warrants outstanding after adjustment 16,060,118           -                       -                       
Issued in connection with Rights Offering 15,692,500           3.18                     9,132                    
Balance, December 31, 2021 31,752,618           $ 1.70                     $ 9,132                    
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trading the Common Shares issuable under the warrants, for so long as it holds at least 15% of the issued 
and outstanding Common Shares. 
 
The issuance date fair value of the backstop warrants of $9.1 million was determined using the Black-
Scholes model with the following inputs: 
 

 

Rayonier Asset Acquisition Consideration 

On August 28, 2021, as part of the Rayonier Asset Acquisition, the Company issued 28,684,433 common 
shares, representing an acquisition date fair value of $54.2 million as part of the total consideration for the 
assets acquired.  
 
Private Placement 

On October 22, 2020, the Company completed a non-brokered Private Placement financing of 2,000,000 
Units at a purchase price of $0.50 per Unit and of 4,000 Convertible Debentures at a purchase price of $1 
thousand per Convertible Debenture (refer to, Note 15 – Convertible Debentures), for aggregate gross 
proceeds of $5,000. Each Unit is comprised of one common share and one common share purchase 
warrant of the Company (the “Warrant”). Each Warrant entitles the holder thereof to purchase one common 
share at a purchase price of $0.60 until the date that is five years after the date that the Warrant is issued. 
Each Unit is immediately separable into one common share and one warrant upon issuance.   
 
The transaction was accounted for as a compound financial instrument in accordance with IAS 32, Financial 
instruments: presentation. The proceeds were allocated between the common shares and the warrants 
based on their relative fair values as outlined below. The fair value of the common shares was based on 
the market value as of the date of issuance of the units. The fair value of the warrants was determined 
using the Black-Scholes model with the following inputs: 
 

 
 
Following the private placement, two of the subscribers to the private placement became directors of the 
Company. The two directors subscribed for, in aggregate, $3.6 million of the convertible debentures and 
1,800,000 Units. 
 
Loss Per Share 

  
 
In the periods when net losses are incurred, no impact of dilutive securities is included in the calculation of 
diluted weighted average number of common shares outstanding. 
 
There were no shareholder dividends declared during the years ended December 31, 2021 and December 
31, 2020. 

July 30, 2021
Expected life 5 years
Exercise price $ 3.18                     
Volatility 33%
Underlying price of common share on the grant date $ 2.57                     
Risk free rate 0.81%

October 22, 2020
Expected life 5 years
Exercise price $ 0.60                     
Volatility 10%
Underlying price of common share on the grant date $ 0.60                     
Risk free rate 0.39%

Year ended December 31 2021 2020
Net loss $ (9,619)                    $ (2,250)                    
Basic weighted average number of common shares outstanding 78,721,554             22,194,188             
Diluted weighted average number of common shares outstanding 78,721,554             22,194,188             
Basic and diluted loss per share $ (0.12)                      $ (0.10)                      
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18. EQUITY-BASED COMPENSATION 
 
Rolling Stock Option Plan 
 
Stock Options 

 
The Company established a rolling stock option plan (the "Rolling Plan") effective on June 2, 2003, which 
was amended June 20, 2012, to reflect the TSX Venture Exchange policies and practices.  The maximum 
number of common shares which can be reserved for issuance under the Plan is 10% of the prevailing 
issued and outstanding shares of the Company. Stock options granted under the Plan are exercisable for 
a period no longer than ten years, although the vesting terms, if any and expiry period are at the discretion 
of the Company’s Board of Directors. 
 
Changes to stock options granted under the Plan were as follows: 
 

 
(1) In dollars per option. 
 
During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company recorded a $42 expense related to the stock 
options granted under the prior Rolling Plan. All outstanding options held by officers and directors under 
the Plan were exercised during the year ended December 31, 2021 for cash proceeds of $1.4 million.  
 
Omnibus Equity Incentive Plan 

During the year ended December 31, 2021, the Company established the 2021 Omnibus Equity Incentive 
Plan ("Omnibus Plan") for directors, officers, employees and contractors Under the Omnibus Plan, the 
Company may grant stock options, Restricted Share Units ("RSUs"), Performance Share Units ("PSUs"), 
Deferred Share Units ("DSUs") and Dividend-Equivalent Rights. The maximum number of common shares 
which can be reserved for issuance under the Plan is 10% of the prevailing issued and outstanding shares 
of the Company. 

Stock Options 

During the year ended December 31, 2021, the Company granted 4,766,858 stock options to directors, 
officers, employees and contractors as follows: 

 

The issuance date fair value of the stock options was determined using the Black-Scholes model with the 
following inputs: 

Number of 
Options

Weighted Average 

Exercise Price
(1)

Years Before 
Expiration

Outstanding as of December 31, 2019 480,000                $ 1.00                     9.96                     
Issued 1,886,000             0.60                     6.68                     
Expired (160,000)               1.00                     -                       
Outstanding as of December 31, 2020 2,206,000             0.66                     6.67                     
Exercised (2,206,000)            0.66                     -                       
Outstanding as of December 31, 2021 -                       -                       -                       

Grant date Number of options Expiry date Exercise price Vesting period

December 15, 2021 2,625,900                     December 15, 2026 $1.80 3 years (1/3 each year)

December 15, 2021 1,838,958                     December 15, 2026 $1.80 5 years

December 15, 2021 302,000                        December 15, 2026 $1.80 Immediate
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As at December 31, 2021, there are 4,766,858 stock options outstanding, with an aggregate fair value of 
$3.1 million, of which 302,000 were exercisable: 

 

During the year ended December 31, 2021, the Company recorded a $0.2 million expense related to the 
stock options granted under the Omnibus Plan.  

Performance Share Units 

During the year ended December 31, 2021, the Company granted 277,000 Performance Share Units 
("PSUs") to a certain officer. PSUs have a performance-based criteria based on various metrics. The PSUs 
are cash-settled instruments and are accounted for as a financial liability. During the year ended December 
31, 2021, the Company recorded a $7 expense related to the PSUs granted under the Omnibus Plan. 

19. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 
 
Key management personnel compensation 

The Company’s key management personnel is comprised of its Board of Directors and members of the 
senior leadership team. The Company’s key management personnel compensation comprised of the 
following: 
 

 
(1) Please refer to Note 18 – Equity-based Compensation for further information on such benefits. 
(2) For the year ended December 31, 2020, key management personnel were paid through entities controlled by them, see below. 
 
Investment in Boreal Carbon Corporation 

On November 30, 2021, the Company purchased 1,428,571 common shares in Boreal Carbon Corporation 
("Boreal") for $0.5 million. Boreal is an entity focused on acquiring and managing forestry projects in North 
America to generate carbon credits. Boreal’s Chairman and Vice-Chairman are the Chairman and CEO of 
GreenFirst, respectively. See Note 20 – Financial Instruments and Risk Management. 
 
Management Services Agreements  

Certain directors of the Company, or their related parties, hold positions in other companies that result in 
them having control or significant influence over these companies. Some of these companies transacted 
with the Company during the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020. Following are the aggregate 
values of such transactions: 
 
 

December 15, 2021
Expected life 3 - 5 years
Term 5 years
Exercise price $ 1.80                     
Volatility 35% - 55%
Underlying price of common share on the grant date $ 1.80                     
Risk free rate 1.0% - 1.3%

Number of 
Options

Weighted Average 

Exercise Price
(1)

Years Before 
Expiration

Outstanding as of December 31, 2020 -                       $ -                       -                       
Issued 4,766,858             1.80                     5                          
Outstanding as of December 31, 2021 4,766,858             $ 1.80                     5                          

Year ended December 31 2021 2020
Salaries, benefits and fees $ 511                      $ 75                        

Equity-based payments (1) 44                        42                        

Total 
(2)

$ 555                      $ 117                      



GREENFIRST FOREST PRODUCTS INC. 
(formerly Itasca Capital Ltd.) 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
For the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 
(In thousands of Canadian dollars unless otherwise stated) 
 

 
 

(1) Includes fees for management services, administrative support, and reimbursement of office expenses. Additionally, a company 
controlled by one of the Company’s directors provided finance, information technology and human resource services leading up to 
and post the Rayonier Asset Acquisition. The amount paid for these services were a flow through of costs with no mark-up. 
(2) Includes fees paid to an entity controlled by the Company’s former CEO, Larry Gene Swets Jr., who was engaged as a contractor 
pursuant to a management service agreement effective January 31, 2019, which was subsequently terminated effective August 28, 
2021. Also includes fees paid to an entity controlled by the Company’s CFO pursuant to a consulting contract.  
(3) There are no amounts outstanding related to these services as at December 31, 2021. 
 
20. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT 
 
As at December 31, 2021, the Company’s financial instruments categorization and values are as follows: 
 

 
 
Except for the Company’s investment, the fair value of all other financial instruments approximates the 
carrying value due to their short-term nature. Long term debt fair value approximates its carrying value due 
to the short period between initial recognition and period end.  
 
On November 30, 2021, the Company purchased 1,428,571 common shares in Boreal for $0.5 million. The 
Company has classified this investment as fair value through profit and loss. The Company uses Level 3 
inputs to assess the fair value of the investment at the reporting date as there is no public information 
available regarding the value of Boreal’s common shares.  
 
The Company’s financial instruments expose the Company to credit, liquidity and market risk. 
 
Credit Risk 

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Company if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument 
fails to meet its contractual obligations and arises primarily from the Company’s cash deposits and 
receivables from customers. 
 
The Company’s maximum exposure to credit risk attributable to cash deposits is $36.2 million (December 
31, 2020 - $5.3 million). The Company holds these deposits with a Canadian Schedule 1 financial institution. 
 
The Company’s exposure to credit risk with respect to accounts receivable is dependent upon individual 
characteristics of each customer. Each new customer is assessed for creditworthiness before payment and 
delivery terms and conditions are offered, with such review encompassing any external ratings, and bank 
and other references. Purchase limits are established for each customer and are regularly reviewed. The 
Company does not require specific credit guarantees for its customers and mitigates the risk of potential 
losses through the active monitoring of its receivables, considering past experience with its customer base, 
current economic conditions and any known specific customer issues. 
 
The Company regularly reviews the collectability of its accounts receivable and establishes an allowance 
for expected credit losses based on its best estimate of expected credit losses. At December 31, 2021, a 
$0.2 million allowance for expected credit losses was recorded. 
 
The carrying amount of accounts receivable, excluding value added tax of $32.7 million represents the 
maximum credit exposure for its accounts receivables at December 31, 2021. 
 
 

Year ended December 31 2021 2020

Fees incurred for services – officers and companies controlled by officers (1)(2)(3) 650                      472                      

Category Carrying and fair value
Cash and cash equivalents Amortized cost $ 36,173                          
Trade and other receivables, excluding value added tax Amortized cost 32,661                          
Accounts payable and other current liabilities, excluding lease liabilities Amortized cost 46,429                          
Long-term debt Amortized cost 115,221                        
Lease liabilities Amortized cost 3,404                           
Investment Fair value 500                              
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Liquidity Risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. 
The Company manages its liquidity to fulfill its obligations when due and monitors cash flow requirements 
daily and projections weekly. In addition to the Company’s cash and cash equivalent balances, it has access 
to a $65.0 million Revolving Asset Backed Loan facility with a syndicate of Canadian banks. The Company 
can draw down on the facility based on a prescribed percentage of accounts receivable and its inventory 
carrying value, less reserves. The facility matures on August 28, 2024. The facility was undrawn at 
December 31, 2021, except for open letters of credit of $13.7 million, which reduces availability by the same 
amount. 
 
The estimated cash payments due in respect of contractual and legal obligations including debt principal 
payments and capital commitments are summarized as follows: 
 

  
 
Under the Term Loan agreement, additional principal repayments will be required of up to 75% of excess 
cash flow (as defined in the credit agreement) annually. Also, there are mandatory payment provisions, 
plus the applicable premium, upon the occurrence of certain events including proceeds from the sale of 
assets and proceeds from equity and debt financing.  
 
Market Risk 

The Company is exposed to market risk primarily through changes in commodity prices, the US dollar to 
Canadian dollar exchange rate and interest rates. 
 
Commodity Prices 

The Company’s products are commodities that are widely available from other producers; because these 
products have few distinguishing qualities from producer to producer, competition is based primarily on 
price, which is determined by supply relative to demand. The Company attempts to minimize the economic 
impact of these changes through continuously looking for cost reductions in its operations and employing 
flexible manufacturing schedules that can increase or decrease in response to supply and demand 
fluctuations. The Company currently does not hedge its exposure to commodity prices. 
 
Interest Rate Risk 

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 
because of changes in market interest rates. The Company has a secured Term Loan and a revolving ABL 
facility which creates interest rate risk exposure for the Company. The Term Loan bears interest at a fixed 
interest rate until a referenced variable rate (based on LIBOR, Federal Funds Rate, or US Prime Rate) 
exceeds a certain threshold, at which time the interest rate becomes variable. The threshold rate for a 
LIBOR rate loan, above which the interest rate becomes variable is 2% and for loans based on the Federal 
Fund Rate or US Prime Rate the threshold rate is 3%. As at December 31, 2021, the variable threshold 
rates were below the threshold.   
 
A 100 basis point increase in the interest rate on the secured term debt loan would increase the net loss in 
the statement of profit and loss by approximately $125. Similarly, a 100 basis point reduction in the interest 
rate on the secured term debt loan would decrease the net loss in the statement of profit and loss by 
approximately $125. 
 

2022 2023 2024 2025
2026 and 

beyond Total
Accounts payable $ 27,481      $ -           $ -           $ -           $ -           $ 27,481      
Other liabilities, excl. leases 18,948      1,580        1,580        1,580        3,401        27,089      
Lease liabilities 1,379        1,096        544           187           463           3,669        
Long term debt 6,339        6,339        6,339        106,179    -           125,196    
Total $ 54,147      $ 9,015        $ 8,463        $ 107,946    $ 3,864        $ 183,435    
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The revolving ABL facility bears a variable interest rate (based on LIBOR, Bankers Acceptances, or Royal 
Bank of Canada prime rate) plus an applicable premium which varies based on the amount of borrowing 
base availability remaining. 
 
At December 31, 2021, no amounts were drawn on the revolving ABL facility. 
 
Currency Risk 

The Company is exposed to foreign exchange risk on revenues and expenditures denominated in foreign 
currencies, principally US dollars. The Company’s US dollar denominated sales accounts for a significant 
volume of its sales. Except for duties and Term Loan interest and principal payments, the majority of the 
Company’s expenditures are in Canadian dollars. 
 
The Company is exposed to currency risk on US dollar cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, 
accounts payable and long-term debt balances. 
 
As of December 31, 2021, the portion of the Company’s monetary assets and liabilities held in US dollars 
are as follows: 
 

 
 
Based on the US dollar statement of financial position exposure at December 31, 2021, with other variables 
unchanged, if the Canadian dollar were to weaken against the US dollar by 1%, relative to the rate at 
December 31, 2021, the net loss in the statement of earnings (loss) would be approximately $0.7 million 
greater. If the Canadian dollar were to strengthen against the US dollar by 1%, relative to the rate at 
December 31, 2021, the net loss in the statement of earnings (loss) would be approximately $0.7 million 
less. 

21. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT 
 
The Company’s objectives when managing capital are to maintain a strong statement of financial position 
and to continuously improve its cost structure to maintain liquidity throughout commodity price cycle and to 
support access to additional capital for expansion. The Company defines capital as net debt and 
shareholders’ equity. 
 

 
 
The Company manages its capital through detailed operating and capital expenditure budgeting combined 
with frequent forecasting. The Company’s strategic capital expenditure decisions are predicated on 
adequate cash flow from operations to support those expenditures. 
 
The Company’s Term Loan contains restrictive covenants that limit the Company’s ability to undertake 
certain actions without the lenders consent, it also includes the following financial covenant tests performed 
quarterly: a maximum leverage ratio; a minimum fixed charge coverage ratio and a minimum liquidity 

As at December 31 (in thousands of US dollars) 2021
Cash and cash equivalents $ 22,166                          
Accounts receivable 23,506                          
Accounts payable and other liabilities (4,637)                          
Long-term debt (98,750)                        
Net monetary liabilities in US Dollars $ (57,715)                        

As at December 31 2021

Total debt outstanding $ 115,221                         

Less: cash and cash equivalents (36,173)                          

Net debt 79,048                           

Shareholders' equity 229,159                         

Total capital $ 308,207                         
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requirement, all as defined in the Secured Term Loan agreement. The Company monitors its performance 
monthly as well as its future performance expectations, adjusting as required, so it remains in compliance 
with these covenants. The Company was in compliance with its Term Loan covenants as at December 31, 
2021. 

22. SEGMENT AND GEOGRAPHICAL INFORMATION 
 
The Company operates in two business segments, Forest Products and Paper Products based on factors 
that include similarities in products, production processes and economic characteristics. Through its Forest 
Products segment, the Company manufactures and markets a wide range of forest products for use in 
residential and commercial construction, including SPF lumber, wood chips and by-products. The Paper 
Products segment manufactures and markets paper grade products used to print newspapers, advertising 
materials, food service bags and other publications. Corporate activities consist primarily of senior 
management, accounting, information systems, human resources, treasury, tax and legal administrative 
functions that provide support services to the operating business segments. The Company does not 
allocate the cost of maintaining these support functions to its operating units. Transactions between 
segments are at market prices and on standard business terms. 
 
For the year ended December 31, 2021, there were no customers that represent 10% or more of total net 
sales for the Company. The Company did not have any sales for the comparative period of year ended 
December 31, 2020.  
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

Statement of earnings (loss) for the year ended December 31, 2021
Forest Products Paper Products Corporate Eliminations Total

Net sales
External $ 165,777           $ 24,702             $ -                  $ -                  $ 190,479           
Intersegment 54,302             -                  -                  (54,302)            -                  

Total net sales $ 220,079           $ 24,702             $ -                  $ (54,302)            $ 190,479           

Operating income (loss) $ 18,258             $ (6,977)              $ (6,179)              $ -                  $ 5,102               

Finance costs, net $ 34                   $ 21                   $ 6,121               $ -                  $ 6,176               
Depreciation and amortization 6,335               997                  168                  -                  7,500               
Capital expenditures 4,917               1,175               -                  -                  6,092               

Statement of financial position as at December 31, 2021
Forest Products Paper Products Corporate Eliminations Total

Total assets $ 250,947           $ 90,017             $ 296,423           $ (221,450)          $ 415,937           
Total liabilities $ 71,737             $ 11,748             $ 324,743           $ (221,450)          $ 186,778           

Geographical net sales for the year ended December 31, 2021
Forest Products Paper Products Corporate Total

Canada $ 78,556             $ 4,117               $ -                  $ 82,673             
United States 87,221             20,585             -                  107,806           
Total net sales $ 165,777           $ 24,702             $ -                  $ 190,479           


